6

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Susan S. Barden, Commissioner

RECEIVED

JUN 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

WCC File No. 1510187
Appellate Case No. 2016-002297

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Commission err in finding as fact, concluding as a matter of law and ordering that the claimant sustained an injury by accident, thus entitling him to workers compensation benefits, the error being that this ruling is not supported by the evidence and the claimant did not meet his burden of proof?

2. Did the Commission err in finding as fact, concluding as a matter of law and ordering that Dr. Plymale coordinate treatment, the error being that the defendants have the right to direct medical treatment in this instance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant contends he suffered a compensable injury on June 5, 2015 when his left elbow struck the creel while doffing a frame. Claimant worked light duty for a period of time until his case was denied. His attorney filed a Form 50 request for a hearing on August 31, 2015 seeking a determination of compensability, request for medical treatment, and temporary total disability for the period of August 19, 2015 to the present and continuing.

This was an unwitnessed accident whereby Defendants, deny that Claimant sustained a compensable injury. They allege that Claimant is not credible and they should not be responsible for payment of any medical expenses or payment of temporary total disability (TTD). Specifically defendants claim that they are not responsible for TTD as the claimant voluntarily removed himself from the workforce. Defendants deny any benefits are due under the Workers' Compensation Act.

Claimant is represented by William L. Smith, II of Columbia, SC and Defendants are represented by E. Ros Huff, Jr., of Columbia, SC. The Commission file was made a part of the record. This case was heard by the hearing commissioner on February 1, 2016, at which time the parties and their representatives appeared. The Commissioner issued an order finding the claim for claimant's elbow compensable and ordering Defendants to pay temporary total disability

compensation benefits from August 19, 2015 to the present and continuing and payment of ALL causally related medical expenses from June 5, 2015 to the present and continuing.

Claimant is a 28 year old married male with six dependent children. Claimant has a GED and served in the United States Army for eight years until he was medically discharged as a result of a head injury. Following Claimant's discharge, he worked for G4S Security until he obtained his job with AGY in the spring of 2015.

Claimant testified that he suffered his injury on June 5, 2015 when he was doffing a frame and attempted to pick up a bobbin that was stuck. He testified that his hand slipped off the bobbin and his elbow hit the creel above it. However the claimant's Form 50 states that he injured himself by "**LEFT ARM HIT THE MOVING CREEL IN THE MACHINE**".

The reports of Aiken Regional Medical Center show the claimant was seen the next day on June 6, 2015 "complaining of left elbow pain that began when he picked up an item at work tonight and hit his elbow on a hard piece of plastic".

Dr. Plymale first saw Claimant on June 15, 2015. His first visit was approximately ten days after the date of injury. The diagnosis by Dr. Plymale was simply a contusion to the elbow. Dr. Plymale performed a physical examination of the claimant and upon physical examination, the claimant had a normal exam and he did not even note bruising on the claimant. Dr. Plymale further stated that the x-rays were normal. (R. Vol. I p. 159-161) Dr. Plymale also took a history of Claimant injuring his elbow at work on June 5, 2015 when he hit his elbow on a piece of equipment. Dr. Plymale originally diagnosed Claimant with a left elbow contusion and placed him on light duty status for the next three weeks with no lifting over 10 pounds. Claimant returned to Dr. Plymale on July 6, 2015 for follow up of his left elbow injury. At that time, Dr. Plymale assessed continued left elbow pain and the claimant contended that he cannot lift

anything over 8lbs. As a result of this statement, Dr. Plymale requested that an MRI be performed.

On August 4, 2015, the claimant continued to work at this job with little or no complaints, but visited the onsite clinic at AGY. At that visit, the nurse Ann Tyler noted that the claimant inquired about the MRI being approved and stated: "I can't pick up anything heavy at all." The nurse also noted that the employee was again leaning on a dutch door with both elbows bearing weight as he leans in to talk. He further stated that he could do his whole job as long as it is not over 8 pounds because lifting anything else with the arm hurts.

On August 6, 2015, just two days after this visit to the clinic, and prior to an MRI being performed, the claimant visited the YMCA pool and surveillance footage shows him doing numerous strenuous activities with his elbow including lifting and throwing his 8 or 9 year old son in the pool using both arms and doing activities such as raising his back lift of his van and lifting a heavy travel stroller. All of these activities he denied doing at his deposition taken on November 16, 2015 and many activities depicted in the video showed him not complying with his lifting restrictions and contradicted his statement that he could not lift more than 8 pounds.

AT THE HEARING, THE CLAIMANT ADMITS THAT HE LIED IN HIS DEPOSITION ABOUT NOT LIFTING ANYTHING HEAVY, AND SIMPLY SITTING AROUND THE KIDDIE POOL WHEN VISITING THE YMCA.

An MRI was performed after this pool visit at the VA hospital on September 21, 2015. This MRI was taken three months after the alleged date of injury, and after the footage was taken of the claimant performing strenuous activities at the pool. The MRI revealed "diffuse signal or abnormality noted at the extensor tendon attachment to the lateral epicondyles likely representing tendinopathy or possible partial tear" (R. Vol. II p. 199).

After reviewing the MRI, Dr. Plymale initially issued a causation statement relating the changes on the MRI to the accident in December 2015 (R. Vol. II p. 237). On January 20, 2016, after this opinion was rendered, Dr. Plymale viewed surveillance footage of the claimant doing numerous strenuous activities with his elbow and changed his opinion of causation at the deposition. In fact, Dr. Plymale stated that he wasn't even sure if the claimant is entitled to any medical treatment. Dr. Mickey Plymale further testified in his deposition that he didn't know whether the equipment was located and can't remember what level it was at. He doesn't know what degree of force the claimant hit the equipment with or if it were physically possible for him to even strike the elbow or if the equipment was stationary or moving. (R. Vol. I p. 156-157)

Dr. Plymale's opinion as to causation and necessity of medical treatment is stated as follows:

Dr. Plymale-Page 15, Lines 12-19

| | | |
|----|---|---|
| 12 | Q | Inflammation. Based upon what you saw on the last |
| 13 | | time that you saw him in July 2015, did you |
| 14 | | anticipate any permanent restrictions? |
| 15 | A | No. |
| 16 | Q | Any permanent injury? |
| 17 | A | No. |
| 18 | Q | Any permanent impairment? |
| 19 | A | No. |

Dr. Plymale-Page 16, Lines 17-25

| | | |
|----|---|---|
| 17 | Q | Okay. After you last saw him, are you in a |
| 18 | | position to give any opinion, to a reasonable |
| 19 | | degree of certainty, what his physical capabilities |
| 20 | | were? |
| 21 | A | No. |
| 22 | Q | After you last saw him, can you give any opinion as |
| 23 | | to what he was physically capable of doing? I |
| 24 | | think the last time -- I think you saw him in |
| 25 | | June, and then you saw him July 6th. Can you give |

Dr. Plymale-Page 17, Lines 1-2

1 any opinion after that date?

2 A No.

Dr. Plymale-Page 25, Lines 4-19, 24-25

24 Q Can you still give the same opinion that he --

25 since you don't know, can you give an opinion that

Dr. Plymale-Page 26, Line 1-2

1 he does need the treatment?

2 A No.

Defendants contend that the evidence viewed as whole do not support the Commissioner's finding of compensability and entitlement to medical benefits and this appeal followed.

ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I

The Commission erred in finding as fact, concluding as a matter of law and ordering that the claimant sustained an injury by accident, thus entitling him to workers compensation benefits, the error being that this ruling is not supported by the evidence and the claimant did not meet his burden of proof.

The claimant has the burden of proving his entitlement to benefits by the greater weight of the evidence. Hill v. Jones, 255 S.C. 219, 178 S.E.29, 142 (1970). In deciding whether substantial evidence supports a finding of causation, it is appropriate to consider both the lay and expert evidence. Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154 (S.C. 1999).

The lay evidence in the form of the Claimant's testimony does not support an injury by accident. This is an unwitnessed accident. The claimant contends in his Form 50 that the accident occurred to his left arm when it hit a **moving creel** (R. Vol. I p. 23). However, the claimant contends that this is wrong because he was really trying to remove thread on the bobbin when his elbow came up and hit the machine (R. Vol. I p. 59 lines 7-11), and thus the creel could not be

moving. The claimant, while using the bobbin for demonstration at the hearing, stated that he would pick up the bobbin with one hand by the very top, not touching the yarn and once off the spindle is when you reach other hand underneath the bobbin itself to pull the bobbin out and put it onto a cart. However, the claimant was right hand dominant and standing to the left side of the creel. Therefore, he would have had to reach over his body to use his left hand and injure the left elbow. At the hearing, he testified that the accident occurred when his hand slipped off a machine and his elbow hit a creel. (R. Vol. I p. 60 lines 1-2, 6-25). When asked at the hearing whether the creel was moving as stated in his Form 50, claimant testified that he didn't actually hit the machine that spins. The claimant admitted at the hearing that he doesn't know how his left arm hit a moving creel if the machine is moving and running. Because of the numerous inaccurate statements in the claimant's testimony, the accident could not have happened in the way that he described. The claimant was also not forthright about his complaints regarding his injury.

Even if you assume the claimant's accident did occur, the claimant suffered no injury by accident. The medical evidence when viewed as a whole does not support an injury. At the first doctor's visit on June 6, 2015, a day after the accident, Claimant was simply diagnosed with a contusion to the elbow at Aiken Regional Medical Center. The claimant was then seen at the clinic onsite at AGY where the nurse noted no swelling and normal range of motion in the hands or fingers.

The claimant was ultimately referred to an orthopaedist Dr. Mickey Plymale. His first visit was approximately ten days after the date of injury on June 15, 2016. The diagnosis by Dr. Plymale was simply a contusion to the elbow. At the second and last visit with Dr. Plymale on July 6, 2015, the claimant complained of pain and stated that he could not lift over eight pounds.

As a result, Dr. Plymale requested that an MRI be taken of the claimant's elbow. However, the claimant was impeached numerous times from his deposition testimony when confronted with the surveillance materials at the hearing. He said in his deposition that the heaviest he had lifted since the accident was his babies. However, he admitted at the hearing that this statement was not true as the surveillance footage showed him tossing one of his larger children (either 8 or 9 years old) in a pool. This lifting was certainly greater than the eight pounds that he contended that he couldn't lift and was in violation of his lifting restriction of no greater than ten pounds. He also stated at the deposition that all he did was go to the pool and stand in the pool. However, he admitted at this hearing that this was a false statement. The claimant also admitted to carrying and lifting a travel stroller into his van which was approximately 10-15 pounds according to the claimant.

The claimant did not meet his burden of proving causation by medical evidence. Even if the court were to give more weight to the testimony of the claimant, which has been proven not credible, the claimant still cannot meet his burden of proof.

Defendants would also submit that the claimant did not meet his burden of proving entitlement to Temporary Total Disability benefits because the claimant voluntarily removed himself from the workforce. To show that one is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, one must prove that "the incapacity for work resulting from an injury is total." S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-9-10 (1976, as amended). South Carolina Cases have held compensation for total disability "is based on loss of earning capacity." Bateman v. Town and Country Furniture Co., 287 S.C. 158, 159, 336 S.E. 2d 890, 891 (Ct. App. 1985). The claimant did not have a loss of earning capacity, but rather quit his job and voluntarily removed himself from the workforce.

Defendants submit that because claimant failed to present evidence of loss of earning capacity, the Commissioner erred in awarding TTD benefits.

ARGUMENT II

The Commission erred in finding as fact, concluding as a matter of law and ordering that Dr. Plymale coordinate treatment, the error being that the defendants have the right to direct medical treatment in this instance.

The Workers Compensation Commission committed an error of law when they appointed Southeastern Spine Institute as the authorized treating facility. There was no basis for this appointment and this was error because this is not a situation under 42-15-60(a), that calls for the Commission to appoint a treating physician because this is a denied case:

(A) The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. In addition to it, the original artificial members as reasonably may be necessary must be provided by the employer. During any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown. The refusal of an employee to accept any medical, hospital, surgical, or other treatment or evaluation when provided by the employer or ordered by the commission bars the employee from further compensation until the refusal ceases and compensation is not paid for the period of refusal unless in the opinion of the commission the circumstances justified the refusal, in which case the commission may order a change in the medical or hospital service. **If in an emergency, on account of the employer's failure to provide the medical care as specified in this section, a physician other than provided by the employer is called to treat the employee, the reasonable cost of the service must be paid by the employer, if ordered by the commission.**