THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Susan S. Barden, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

WCC File No. 1510187

Appellate Case No. 2016-002297

Shawn Wier,

Employee/Claimant, Respondent,

v.

AGY Holding Corporation, Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Company, Carrier, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

June 26, 2017

William L. Smith, II, Esquire, Bar. No. 5226
Chappell Smith & Arden
Post Office Box 12330
2801 Devine Street, Suite 300
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
bsmith@csa-law.com
Attorney for Shawn Wier,
Employee/Claimant, Respondent

RECEIVED
JUN 26 2017

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants employed Respondent as a frame services worker (FSR) when he sustained an injury to his upper left extremity and left elbow. That injury was precipitated by Respondent striking his elbow on a piece of manufacturing equipment upon which he was working. Respondent worked light duty until his discharge by Appellants, which was the result of Appellants' unwillingness to continue offering Respondent light duty. Since that time, Respondent has been unable to earn wages and is therefore entitled to temporary total disability benefits. Respondent argues all of the above is supported by substantial evidence.

The Commission awarded this claim because it believed Respondent's testimony, the medical records, and Dr. Plymale's deposition testimony. Based upon those lay and expert opinions, the Commission found Respondent's elbow injury was compensable, awarded temporary total disability benefits, and designated Dr. Plymale as the authorized treating physician.

Substantial evidence supports the Appellate Panel's decision and its conclusions of law are permitted by law, are within the statutory authority of the Commission, are made upon lawful procedure, are not affected by any legal error, and are not arbitrary or capricious.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent suffered his injury in the late evening hours of June 5, 2015, while he was working for the Appellants. (R. p. 59, lines 5–11). His hand slipped off a bobbin he was doffing, which caused his left elbow to strike the creel above it. (*Id.*). He felt a sharp pain as if he had hit his funny-bone. (R. p. 60, lines 17–18). When the pain didn't subside, he reported it to his supervisor and was sent by Appellants to Aiken Regional Medical Center. (R. p. 60, line 19–p. 61, line 11). Upon his arrival to Aiken Regional Medical Center, Respondent reported a direct blow to his left arm from which he was suffering from constant symptoms. (R. p. 207). At that time, Respondent's physicians diagnosed him with a contusion, prescribed Naprosyn for inflammation, prescribed Norco for pain, prescribed a sling, and issued work restrictions limiting his use of his left arm. (R. p. 232).

After reporting to the emergency room on the evening of the accident, Respondent went to the Employer the following morning and took his work excuse to the plant nurse, Ann Tyler. (R. p. 61, lines 19–24). The Employer then completed an accident report and placed Respondent on light duty consistent with his work excuse from Aiken Regional Medical Center. (R. p. 62, lines 5–13). Ms. Tyler then scheduled Respondent for treatment with Dr. Mickey Plymale of the Moore Orthopaedic Clinic. (R. p. 62, lines 14–24).

Dr. Plymale first saw Respondent on June 15, 2015, ten days following the date of accident. (R. p. 201). The history from this visit states, "He reports that he was at work on [June 5, 2015] when he hit his elbow on a piece of equipment." (R. p. 201). Dr. Plymale placed Respondent on

light duty with restrictions of no lifting over ten pounds until a follow-up appointment. (R. p. 202). Moreover, Dr. Plymale placed Respondent in a tennis elbow strap, prescribed Medrol, and recommended physical therapy. (R. pp. 202–03).

Dr. Plymale next saw Respondent on July 6, 2015. He again recommended physical therapy, occupational therapy, and restricted duty, but also ordered Respondent have an MRI. (R. p. 200). Dr. Plymale continued Respondent’s work restrictions until an MRI could be performed. (*Id.*). Additionally, Respondent was given an MFP injection in his elbow. (R. p. 202).

Respondent continued to work with light duty restrictions until August 19, 2015, when he was abruptly terminated by his employer, as they were “[u]nable to accommodate restrictions of a probationary employee.” (R. p. 17; p. 42, lines 5–15; p. 65, line 11–p. 67, line 24. Supplemental Record on Appeal p. ____). On or about the same date, Appellants also notified Respondent they were denying his claim. (R. p. 64). Thus, for over two months, this was a fully documented and accepted claim, and Respondent was continuing to work within his restrictions as requested by his employer. However, Appellants then decided unilaterally to deny the claim and terminate Respondent.

Commissioner James issued a nine-page decision in which she summarized the claims as well as the evidence. (*See* R. pp. 13–17). She described the witness testimony, lay and expert. (*Id.*). Further, Commissioner James indicated she had examined the entire file and specifically referenced the medical records, the MRI, and Respondent’s testimony. (*See* R. p. 17). Based upon this comprehensive review of the record as a whole, Commissioner James found Respondent had met his burden of proof regarding compensability. (*See id.*). Finally, the hearing commissioner found Respondent was entitled to additional medical treatment and was entitled to temporary total disability benefits. (R. p. 20). The Appellate Panel issued a nearly identical Order. (*Compare* R.

pp. 12–20, *with* R. pp. 1–11 (only adding to Finding of Fact No. 9 the sentence “Notwithstanding any inconsistency, after review of all the evidence, we believe Claimant more than we doubt him”; the Panel made no other alterations.)). The Panel’s decision to affirm the single commissioner was unanimous. (R. p. 11).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (the APA) establishes the standard of review for decisions by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 132, 276 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1981). Pursuant to the APA, the Court may reverse or modify such a decision if the findings and conclusions of the Commission are affected by error of law, clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record or arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(6) (Supp. 2016). Under the substantial evidence standard, a decision of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission must be affirmed if the factual findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record. *See Minor v. Philips Prods.*, 329 S.C. 321, 323, 494 S.E.2d 819, 820 (1997); *Jennings v. Chambers Development Co.*, 335 S.C. 249, 259, 516 S.E.2d 453, 458 (Ct. App. 1999).

Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion reached by the administrative agency in order to justify its action. *Miller v. State Roofing Co.*, 312 S.C. 452, 454, 441 S.E.2d 323, 324–25 (1994). Moreover, the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the agency’s findings from being supported by substantial evidence. *Clade v. Champion Laboratories*, 330 S.C. 8, 11, 513 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1998). Where there is a conflict in the

evidence, either by different witnesses or in the testimony of the same witness, the findings of fact of the Commission are conclusive. *Tiller v. National Health Care Ctr.*, 334 S.C. 333, 338, 513 S.E.2d 843, 845 (1999).

Determinations of the credibility of evidence are exclusively within the authority of the Commission. The Commission is the ultimate finder of fact in a workers' compensation case and makes the final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be given the evidence. *Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings*, 395 S.C. 450, 455, 718 S.E.2d 755, 758 (Ct. App. 2011). The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Full Commission, and an appellate court lacks authority to weigh evidence found by the Commission. *Stone v. Taylor Brothers, Inc.*, 360 S.C. 271, 274, 600 S.E.2d 551, 552 (Ct. App. 2004). A reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. *Sharpe v. Case Produce Co.*, 336 S.C. 154, 160, 519 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1999); *Ross v. American Red Cross*, 298 S.C. 490, 491, 381 S.E.2d 728, 730 (1989).

This Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact but may reverse if the decision is affected by an error of law. *Youmans v. Coastal Petroleum Co.*, 333 S.C. 195, 198, 508 S.E.2d 43, 45 (Ct. App. 1998). Thus, this Court's review is limited to deciding whether the Commission's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. *Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 377, 381, 440 S.E.2d 401, 403–404 (Ct. App. 1994).

ARGUMENTS

For the most part, this is a substantial evidence appeal. The Appellants disagree with the Commission's Appellate Panel's factual findings, but, as the Court is aware, the Court is bound

by the Commission's findings unless they are clearly erroneous, made on an unlawful procedure, controlled by a legal error, or arbitrary. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (Supp. 2016).

The Appellants say that Respondent failed to carry his burden of proof in establishing a compensable claim, and argue that he was not credible, but substantial evidence supports the Commission's decision. The Single Commissioner heard Respondent's testimony, reviewed the deposition transcript and medical evidence, and found no pertinent inconsistencies. (R. pp. 12–20). Instead, the Single Commissioner found that Respondent's testimony of the accident was credible, and she found that two providers objectively observed the injury, an MRI documents the injury, and Dr. Plymale's expert medical testimony confirms all other evidence. (*Id.*). The Commission relied on the Single Commissioner's assessment of Respondent's credibility and relied upon the evidence in the record. (R. pp. 1–11). This reliance is within the Commission's discretion.

The Appellants also claim Respondent is not entitled to temporary total disability benefits by alleging he voluntarily resigned from his position. However, the testimonial and documentary evidence in the record clearly shows Respondent continued to work on light duty until he was suddenly terminated after his claim was denied. (R. p. 17; p. 42, lines 5–15; p. 65, line 11–p. 67, line 24. Supplemental Record on Appeal p.____). Conversely, Appellants offer no evidence to support their claim that Respondent was not terminated. Regardless, Respondent remains under work restrictions, and his inability to earn wages is directly related to his medical condition resulting from his accident. The Commission chose to rely on the evidence presented by Respondent and that decision was reasonable.

Finally, Appellants argue that the Commission erred in designating Dr. Plymale as the authorized treating physician in this claim. However, Appellants themselves chose Dr. Plymale

as the authorized treating physician when they first admitted the claim. It was only after terminating Respondent and denying the claim that they objected to Dr. Plymale's status as the previously-authorized treating physician in this case.

I. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW MUST BE UPHELD, FOR THEY ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

- a. The Commission correctly found Respondent sustained a compensable injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment.

As noted above, the record is replete with evidence that supports the Commission's finding that Respondent sustained a compensable injury by accident and carried the requisite burden of proof. For an injury to "arise out of" employment for workers' compensation purposes, the injury must be proximately caused by the employment; the injury arises out of employment when there is a causal connection between the conditions under which the work is required to be performed and the resulting injury. *Ardis v. Combined Ins. Co.*, 380 S.C. 313, 321, 669 S.E.2d 628, 632 (Ct. App. 2008). When testimony of medical experts is relied upon to establish a causal connection between an accident and subsequent disability or death, opinion of experts must be at least that disability or death most probably resulted from the accidental injury. *Grice v. Dickerson, Inc.*, 241 S.C. 225, 230, 127 S.E.2d 722, 725 (1962).

In the instant case, the Commission specifically found that "Claimant has met his burden of proof that he incurred an injury by accident to his left elbow that arose out of and was within the course and scope of his employment." (R. p. 7). The Commission further explained that this finding "is based on the record as a whole, including the corroborating medical records of Aiken Regional Medical Center, Dr. Plymale, and the MRI findings as well as Claimant's testimony." (R. pp. 7-8). All of the accident reports, testimony, and statements made to medical providers

contain virtually the same description of injury, notwithstanding Appellants' repeated reliance upon the fact that a Form 50 states the creel was moving when Respondent was injured.

Furthermore, the medical evidence in the record clearly supports the Commission's finding that Respondent's injury was proximately caused by his workplace accident and that the claim was compensable. First, Dr. Plymale completed a questionnaire on December 2, 2015, whereby he indicated that Respondent's elbow problems were most probably caused by the work incident on June 5, 2015. (R. p. 237). On its face, this documentary medical evidence clearly establishes the requisite medical causation.

Second, Dr. Plymale's deposition was taken in January of 2016 by the Appellants. Appellants assert that a few cherry-picked pages of the transcript refute any evidence of proximate causation.¹ However, a complete reading of the deposition shows Dr. Plymale affirmed his medical opinion on proximate causation given in December of 2015 on multiple occasions. (*See* R. pp. 176–77). Dr. Plymale testified that he initially diagnosed Respondent with lateral epicondylitis, which was consistent with Respondent's report of striking his left elbow. (R. p. 168, lines 10–16). As mentioned in his deposition, Dr. Plymale requested an MRI of the left elbow in July of 2015 because it “kind of confirms that he had an injury there – because it would show up on an MRI.” (R. p. 169, lines 4–9). However, because Defendants subsequently denied the claim, Respondent was unable to get the MRI through Dr. Plymale's practice. (R. p. 169, lines 10–15).

During the deposition, Dr. Plymale was shown the MRI obtained by Respondent in September of 2015 at the VA Hospital in Augusta, Georgia. After his review, Dr. Plymale testified that the MRI confirmed his prior diagnosis of lateral epicondylitis. (R. p. 170, lines 8–15). He

¹ The manner in which Appellants present quoted testimony from Dr. Plymale is particularly misleading; their presentation of the quotes creates a narrative that was not given by Dr. Plymale. In fact, the quotes provided by Appellants span direct examination, cross examination, and re-direct examination. Respondent respectfully asks this Court to consider R. pp. 164–76 in its entirety, for Appellants' presentation of quoted language is deceptive.

then reaffirmed his opinion regarding causation initially given in December of 2015. (R. p. 170, lines 16–24). Regarding related treatment for Respondent’s left elbow, Dr. Plymale did not believe it was a surgical condition; however, he did recommend injections, bracing, physical therapy, and medications. (R. p. 171, lines 1–15). Thus, the expert medical testimony in the record provides substantial evidence of proximate cause.

While Appellants take the position that Respondent could not have been injured in the manner he alleges because of the positioning of a creel and bobbin, the Commission held otherwise. Respondent testified, “I was doffing a frame, and I went to pick up a bobbin that was stuck. I did not know if was stuck. My hand slipped off the bobbin, and my elbow hit the creel above it.” (R. p. 98, lines 3–6). These statements are virtually identical to those given to the medical providers and to those given at the hearing. For this reason, the Commission’s finding that Respondent suffered an injury by accident is supported by substantial evidence.

Appellants further allege that the medical evidence in the record shows no injury occurred even if it was assumed that the accident occurred. Again, there is no basis for this allegation due to the numerous medical reports that confirm the same.

Appellants further allege Respondent’s testimony is not credible and his injury is not compensable because he took his kids to the pool. While Respondent admitted to going to the pool with his family, he did not reveal that he lifted his young children in the pool. This issue was addressed with Dr. Plymale in his deposition, including a review of surveillance photographs taken of Respondent playing in the pool. Dr. Plymale testified that going to a pool and teaching his kids to swim was not something he would advise Respondent to avoid. (R. p. 172, line 23–p. 173, line 4). When specifically asked by Appellants’ counsel whether the activity seen in the photographs, including lifting his small children in the water, would be something he would restrict Respondent

from doing, Dr. Plymale stated “not necessarily.” (R. p. 26, lines 3–6). On re-cross examination, Dr. Plymale yet again affirmed that after reviewing the MRI and surveillance materials, he still stood by his causation statement from December of 2015. (R. p. 26, line 21–p. 27, line 3). Therefore, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Commission’s finding that Respondent suffered an injury.

- b. The Commission correctly found respondent was terminated by his employer and is entitled to temporary total disability benefits.

Appellants also make an incredible argument that Respondent is not entitled to temporary total compensation because he voluntarily removed himself from the workplace. This is patently false. Respondent worked every day following his injury until he was terminated on August 19, 2015. Appellants’ own records show he was discharged because they were, “[u]nable to accommodate medical restrictions of a probationary employee.” (R. p. 17; p. 42, lines 5–15; p. 65, line 11–p. 67, line 24. Supplemental Record on Appeal p. ____). Respondent testified he would still be working if his employer would have allowed him to work. (R. p. 67, lines 18–22). Clearly, Respondent did not voluntarily remove himself from the workplace and had ongoing work restrictions confirmed by the authorized treating physician. Accordingly, the Commission correctly held that Respondent is entitled to temporary total compensation.

As explained above, substantial evidence supports the Commission’s Order. The record is replete with evidence that Respondent suffered a compensable injury by accident and that Claimant was terminated by his employer due to their unwillingness to comply with his physician-prescribed work restrictions. This Court should, therefore, affirm the Order of the Commission’s Appellate Panel pursuant to section 1-23-380(5) of the South Carolina Code.

II. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY DESIGNATED DR. PLYMALE AS THE AUTHORIZED TREATING PHYSICIAN

The Workers' Compensation Commission has the authority to name an authorized treating physician and appropriately used that authority to name Dr. Plymale as the authorized treating physician in this matter. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 (A) (2015) provides the Commission may set the authorized treating physician despite a defendant's wishes if good cause is shown. Under section 42-15-60, the Commission is "awarded great discretion" and "the Commission may override the employer's choice of medical provider. *Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW No. 10420*, 353 S.C. 100, 114, 576 S.E.2d 191, 198 (Ct. App. 2003). The Court of Appeals has offered an example of cause sufficient to warrant a Commission override of the employer's preference and explained that in "a situation where the employee feels he still needs treatment and the employer fails to provide it . . . the Appellate Panel act[s] within its discretion" by ordering an employer provide treatment with a provider the employer has not selected. *Martin v. Rapid Plumbing*, 369 S.C. 278, 292, 631 S.E.2d 547, 555 (Ct. App. 2006). Moreover, the Appellate Court's standard of review on this discretionary action that is allowed under the Commission's statutory authority is limited by section 1-23-380 (5)(b). Pursuant to *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 496, 536 S.E.2d 892, 900 (Ct. App. 2000) "The construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration should be accorded great deference and will not be overruled without a compelling reason."

In the instant case, Appellants initially provided medical treatment with Dr. Plymale for Respondent's injury. However, they then denied the claim and refused to provide any further treatment. After Respondent's claim was found compensable by the Single Commissioner, Appellants then objected to Dr. Plymale's designation as the authorized treating physician and appealed this issue. Respondent's brief, however, objects to the appointment of Southeastern

Spine Institute. Southeastern Spine has never been involved in this matter. Respondent has never treated with Southeastern Spine Institute for his work-related injury and there is no Order from the Commission directing the same. Presumably, this is an error. Respondent has, however, treated with Dr. Plymale, an orthopaedist at Moore Orthopaedic Group in Columbia, SC. In order to appropriately respond to a brief with such error, Respondent assumes Appellants are objecting to the designation of Dr. Plymale and the Moore Orthopaedic Group. Therefore, Appellants object to the Commission designating Dr. Plymale as the authorized treating physician, but they selected Dr. Plymale in the first place to provide treatment for Respondent's injury.